
Remuneration and Nominations Committee of the 
Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of 

Music and Drama

Date: MONDAY, 18 NOVEMBER 2019
Time: 11.00 am
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS
Members: Randall Anderson

John Chapman
Marianne Fredericks
Shreela Ghosh
Michael Hoffman
Vivienne Littlechild
Graham Packham
Andy Taylor

Enquiries: Greg Moore
gregory.moore@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Lunch will be served in the Guildhall Club at 1.00pm.
N.B. Part of this meeting may be subject to audio-visual recording. 

 

John Barradell
Town Clerk

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES
To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 29 April 
2019.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 6)

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN
To elect a Chairman.

For Decision

5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
To elect a Deputy Chairman.

For Decision

6. TERMS OF REFERENCE
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 7 - 12)

7. LENGTH OF TERMS OF OFFICE OF CURRENT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS
Report of the Principal.

For Information
(Pages 13 - 14)

8. RECRUITMENT STRATEGY FOR CO-OPTED MEMBERS
Report of the Principal.

For Decision
(Pages 15 - 32)

9. DRAFT ANNUAL REMUNERATION STATEMENT
Report of the Principal.

For Decision
(Pages 33 - 56)

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT



3

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

For Decision

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda

13. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 29 April 2019.

For Decision
(Pages 57 - 60)

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

Part 3 - Confidential Agenda

16. HR REPORT
Report of the Principal (circulated separately, to Governors only).

For Information



This page is intentionally left blank



REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS OF THE GUILDHALL SCHOOL OF MUSIC AND DRAMA

Monday, 29 April 2019 

Minutes of the meeting of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee of 
the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music and Drama held at the 
Guildhall EC2 at 1.45 pm

Present

Members:
Sir Andrew Burns (Chairman)
Vivienne Littlechild MBE (Deputy 
Chairman)
Randall Anderson
John Chapman

Professor Maria Delgado
Marianne Fredericks
Alderman William Russell
Andy Taylor

Officers:
Steve Eddy - Barbican Centre
Katharine Lewis - Guildhall School of Music and Drama
Martin Newton - Town Clerk's Department
Lynne Williams - Principal, Guildhall School of Music and Drama

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies for absence were received from Michael Hoffman.

2. MEMBERS DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
There were no declarations of interest.

3. PUBLIC MINUTES 
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and summary of the meetings of the 
former Nominations Committee (1 May 2018) and former Remuneration 
Committee (31 October 2018) be confirmed as a correct record.

4. COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
The Committee considered, discussed and made recommendations on the 
terms of reference of the Committee. 

Arising from debate on this and other relevant associated matters, it was 

RESOLVED – That 

(a) the letter received from the Office for Students confirming the 
School’s registration be drawn to the attention of the Board at its meeting 
on 13 May along with a brief summary of HEFCE / OfS differences; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



(b) the Town Clerk investigates a revised date for the November 2019 
meeting of the Committee; and 

(c) the Board be asked to consider and approve the following 
amendments (additions black in italics) to the Committee’s terms of 
reference –

Remunerations and Nominations Committee terms of reference

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee provides advice to the Board of 
Governors. The Committee combines two distinct roles for which there are 
separate expectations within the CUC HE Code of Governance. Therefore, 
wherever possible, the agenda will define the two distinct areas of business. It 
is recognised that all matters relating to the employment of staff fall within the 
purview of the City of London’s Establishment Committee.

Constitution

Chair of the Committee: a senior co-opted governor who is not the Chair of the 
Board
(CUC HE Code of Governance refers)
Other members:

 The Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of 
Music & Drama (a requirement of the CUC HE Code)

 The Deputy Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School 
of Music & Drama

 At least two non-Common Council Governors
 At least one other Common Council Governor
 An elected staff member of the Board
 One senior member of the Academic Staff (not a Vice-Principal)
 May include up to two other co-opted members (who are not necessarily 

members of the governing body)

[Note a Remuneration Committee should have a majority of independent 
members; in this instance this means independent of the School but not 
necessarily independent of the City of London.]

In attendance:

 The Principal of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama (except when the 
Committee discusses his or her remuneration)

 VP for Advancement (except when the Committee discusses his or her 
remuneration)

 One senior member of the Academic Staff (not a Vice-Principal) (on 
nominations matters)

 Head of HR
 Secretary & Dean of Students

Page 2



Quorum: of any five three Committee Members (including one co-opted 
member).

All Members are entitled to vote.

Nominations

 To keep and review a skills register for the Board of Governors and its 
subcommittees

 To reflect upon the composition of the Board and its subcommittees and 
take steps to ensure that the Board and its committees promote best 
practice in equality, diversity and inclusion reflect societal norms and 
values (CUC Code refers)

 To seek out and recommend the appointment of new co-opted members 
to the Board of Governors and its subcommittees. The Committee will 
consider advertising vacancies in order to increase the pool of talent 
available. (CUC Code and Instrument of Government refer)

 Satisfy itself that plans are in place for an orderly succession of the 
Board’s membership

 To consider and recommend any application(s) for nominations for 
Fellowships and/or Honorary Fellowships.

[Note: The issue of inclusion of members of the local community (the School’s 
instrument of Government refers) is addressed via the elected Common 
Council members. I propose that this requirement is therefore removed from 
the Instrument at the next revision of the Instrument & Articles.]

Remuneration

 To take note of staff remuneration, the pay structure and benchmark the 
School against the rest of the higher education sector generally and the 
UK Conservatoire sector specifically

 To consider all characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010 and 
to flag any significant discrepancies within the School’s staffing 
composition

 To satisfy itself with the procedures in place at the School to allow staff 
to make representations about their pay

 To satisfy itself that any ad hoc or personalised payments, including 
severance payments, that might distort the basic remuneration structure 
are made according to transparent and justifiable rules and adhere to 
best practice

 To benchmark the salary of the Principal and Vice-Principals (the senior 
post holders) against a defined list of sector comparators and offer 
comment to the City of London on the outcome of the benchmarking

 To make recommendations to the Board of Governors and the 
Establishment Committee in respect of overall staffing pay structure, 
having regard to equal opportunities

Page 3



 To produce an annual report to the Board of Governors that provides 
assurance that the committee has collectively discharged its 
responsibilities and produce a public annual statement (see note).

Note on annual report:
The report should cover senior staff remuneration (Principal and Vice-
Principals) and include, amongst other things, the approach to remuneration 
and type of factors used in considering reward proposals such as performance 
against strategic objectives, reference to job evaluation schemes etc, and the 
current value for the university of the pay multiple of the Principal’s earning 
against the median of all staff and how this indicator has changed over an 
extended period of time (Remuneration Code and “Possible outline structure for 
a Remuneration Annual Report” refer).

It is recommended that the annual report and the annual statement are one and 
the same but modifications may be necessary to preserve commercial 
confidentiality (Remuneration Code refers). Whilst the full report to the Board 
may be private it should not be withheld from any member of the Board of 
Governors (CUC HE Code of Governance refers).
 

5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions.

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
There was no urgent business.

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining items of business on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

8. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
RESOLVED – That the non public minutes of the meetings of the former 
Nominations Committee (1 May 2018) and former Remuneration Committee 
(31 October 2018) be confirmed as a correct record.

9. HR REPORT 
The Committee considered a report of the Principal on the HR report for the 
School. 

10. RECOMMENDATION FOR FELLOWSHIPS AND HONORARY 
FELLOWSHIPS 2018/19 
The Committee made recommendations for the Board’s consideration on the 
report of the Principal on Fellowships and Honorary Fellowships 2018/19. 

11. FELLOWS ENGAGEMENT PLAN 2019/2020 
The Principal reported to the Committee on the Fellows Engagement Plan 
2019/20.

Page 4



12. ANY NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK 
OF THE COMMITTEE 
There were no non public questions.

13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
The Deputy Chairman raised one additional item.

The meeting closed at 3.24 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Martin Newton
020 7332 3154      
martin.newton@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Committee: 
Remunerations & Nominations Committee of the Board 
of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama

Date:  
18 November 2019

Subject: 
Terms of Reference 

Public

Report of: Town Clerk For Information

Summary

At its last meeting, the Remunerations & Nominations Committee proposed a 
number of amendments to its terms of reference. These were concerned with 
updating outdated references to HEFCE and with formalising the previously 
established arrangement whereby the Chairman of the Committee should be a Co-
opted member of the Board of Governors.

The proposed amendments were subsequently approved by the Board of 
Governors and the revised and updated terms of reference are now presented as 
an appendix to this report. 

Recommendation

 That the updated terms of reference be noted.

Contact:
Greg Moore
Telephone: 020 7332 1399
Email: gregory.moore@cityoflondon.gov.uk   

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

mailto:gregory.moore@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally blank.

Page 8



Appendix 1

Remunerations and Nominations Committee - Terms of Reference

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee provides advice to the Board of 
Governors. The Committee combines two distinct roles for which there are separate 
expectations within the CUC HE Code of Governance. Therefore, wherever possible, 
the agenda will define the two distinct areas of business. It is recognised that all 
matters relating to the employment of staff fall within the purview of the City of 
London’s Establishment Committee.

Constitution
Chair of the Committee: a co-opted governor who is not the Chair of the Board
(CUC HE Code of Governance refers)

Other members:
 The Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & 

Drama (a requirement of the CUC HE Code)

 The Deputy Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of 
Music & Drama

 At least two non-Common Council Governors

 At least one other Common Council Governor

 An elected staff member of the Board

 May include up to two other co-opted members (who are not necessarily 
members of the governing body)

[Note a Remuneration Committee should have a majority of independent members; in 
this instance this means independent of the School but not necessarily independent 
of the City of London.]

In attendance:
 The Principal of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama (except when the 

Committee discusses his or her remuneration)

 VP for Advancement (except when the Committee discusses his or her 
remuneration)

 One senior member of the Academic Staff (not a Vice-Principal) (on 
nominations matters)

 Head of HR

 Secretary & Dean of Students

Quorum: of any three Committee Members (including one co-opted member).

All Members are entitled to vote. Page 9



Nominations:
 To keep and review a skills register for the Board of Governors and its 

subcommittees

 To reflect upon the composition of the Board and its subcommittees and take 
steps to ensure that the Board and its committees promote best practice in 
equality, diversity and inclusion (CUC Code refers)

 To seek out and recommend the appointment of new co-opted members to the 
Board of Governors and its subcommittees. The Committee will consider 
advertising vacancies in order to increase the pool of talent available. (CUC 
Code and Instrument of Government refer)

 Satisfy itself that plans are in place for an orderly succession of the Board’s 
membership

 To consider and recommend any application(s) for nominations for Fellowships 
and/or Honorary Fellowships.

Remuneration:
 To take note of staff remuneration, the pay structure and benchmark the School 

against the rest of the higher education sector generally and the UK 
Conservatoire sector specifically

 To consider all characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010 and to flag 
any significant discrepancies within the School’s staffing composition

 To satisfy itself with the procedures in place at the School to allow staff to make 
representations about their pay

 To satisfy itself that any ad hoc or personalised payments, including severance 
payments, that might distort the basic remuneration structure are made 
according to transparent and justifiable rules and adhere to best practice

 To benchmark the salary of the Principal and Vice-Principals (the senior post 
holders) against a defined list of sector comparators and offer comment to the 
City of London on the outcome of the benchmarking

 To make recommendations to the Board of Governors and the Establishment 
Committee in respect of overall staffing pay structure, having regard to equal 
opportunities

 To produce an annual report to the Board of Governors that provides assurance 
that the committee has collectively discharged its responsibilities and produce 
a public annual statement (see note).

Note on annual report:
The report should cover senior staff remuneration (Principal and Vice-Principals) and 
include, amongst other things, the approach to remuneration and type of factors used 
in considering reward proposals such as performance against strategic objectives, 
reference to job evaluation schemes etc, and the current value for the university of the 
pay multiple of the Principal’s earning against the median of all staff and how this 

Page 10



indicator has changed over an extended period of time (Remuneration Code and 
“Possible outline structure for a Remuneration Annual Report” refer).

It is recommended that the annual report and the annual statement are one and the 
same but modifications may be necessary to preserve commercial confidentiality 
(Remuneration Code refers). Whilst the full report to the Board may be private it should 
not be withheld from any member of the Board of Governors (CUC HE Code of 
Governance refers).

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Committee:
Remuneration & Nominations Committee of the Board 
of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama

Date:
08/11/2019

Subject:
Length of terms of office of current members of the 
Board of Governors

Public

Report of:
Lynne Williams, Principal
Report author:
Katharine Lewis, Secretary & Dean of Students

For Information

Summary
The paper below sets out the known terms of office for current members of the 
Board of Governors for the Guildhall School.

Recommendation
Members are asked to note the report to inform later discussions.

Main Report: Length of terms of office of current members of the Board 

The School’s Instrument and Articles of Government establish the maximum term of 
office which is in line with the CUC HE Code of Governance expectation that 
members of a Board should serve for a maximum of two terms of four years or three 
terms of three years.  The Instrument states:

“5. With the exception of the Principal, none of the Governors shall serve on the 
Board of Governors for more than a maximum of nine years in total.  An 
extension will only be considered in exceptional circumstances to 
accommodate the rotation of the Chairman to Deputy Chairman as set out in 
Article 13 below, or where a Governor is subsequently undertaking a new and 
more senior role.”

Data from the Town Clerk’s Office on term lengths is given below:

For co-optees, appointment dates as follows:

 Michael Hoffman  first appointed 12 May 2014 for an initial three-year 
term, reappointed for a further three-year term 
(expiring May 2022)

 Professor Geoff Crossick first appointed 25 July 2016 for an initial three-year 
term, re-appointed for a further three-year term 
(expiring July 2022)

 Shreela Ghosh  appointed 13 June 2017 for an initial three-year term 
(expiring June 2020)

 Professor Maria Delgado appointed 24 May 2018 for an initial three-year 
term (expiring May 2021)

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 Natasha Bucknor  appointed October 2019 for an initial three-year term 
(expiring October 2022).

 Vacancy

For Common Councillors:
 John Douglas Chapman – currently in his eighth year of office, first elected on 

14 July 2011 – but lost his place and then came back on
 Marianne Bernadette Fredericks – currently in her seventh year of office, first 

elected 25 April 2013
 Jeremy Paul Mayhew – currently in his seventh year of office, first elected 18 

July 2013
 William Anthony Bowater Russell, Alderman – currently in his sixth year of 

office, first elected 1 May 2014
 Vivienne Littlechild, M.B.E., J.P., currently in her fifth year of office, first 

elected 23 April 2015
 Michael John Cassidy, C.B.E, Deputy – currently in his third year of office, first 

elected 27 April 2017
 Graham David Packham – currently in his third year of office, first elected 27 

April 2017
 Randall Keith Anderson – currently in his second year of office, first elected 

19 April 2018
 Ann Holmes – currently in her second year of office, first elected 19 April 2018
 George Christopher Abrahams – currently in his first year of office, first 

elected 25 April 2019
 David John Bradshaw, Deputy – currently in his first year of office since 2005.  

However, he was previously a member in the early nineteen-nineties 
(including but not necessarily limited to November 1991 to May 1994 – exact 
dates are being checked with LMA).

Elected staff members
 Andy Taylor (teaching staff) in his second year of office, he joined the Board 

in May 2018, 
 Steven Gietzen (administrative staff) is in his first year of office.

Other members
 Lynne Williams, Principal
 Dave Muncey, SU President

Male/female split:    13 males and 7 females 

Katharine Lewis
Secretary & Dean of Students
Email: katharine.lewis@gsmd.ac.uk

Page 14



Committee:
Remuneration & Nominations Committee of the Board 
of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama

Date:
08/11/2019

Subject:
Recruitment strategy for co-opted members Public

Report of:
Lynne Williams, Principal
Report author:
Katharine Lewis, Secretary & Dean of Students

For discussion and 
decision

Summary

The School’s Instrument and Articles of Government require co-opted vacancies on 
the Board of Governors to be advertised.

To support this process a strategy document has been devised to ensure 
consistency across all co-opted vacancy recruitment and appointments and 
comments from the Remuneration & Nominations Committee are invited. Included in 
the document are:
Appendix 1 – note concerning the process of elections for staff members of the 
Board
Appendix 2a – draft role descriptor for a co-opted member of the Board of Governors
Appendix 2b – draft role descriptor for a co-opted member of the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee
Appendix 3 – application form

Given that it is considered good practice for role descriptors, it is further suggested 
within the report that role descriptors are extend to other membership categories.

Recommendation

Members are asked to recommend the strategy to the Board of Governors subject to 
any amendments arising from discussion.

Katharine Lewis
Secretary & Dean of Students

Email: katharine.lewis@gsmd.ac.uk

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Recruitment strategy for co-opted members of the 
Board of Governors and its committees 
In line with the CUC HE Code of Governance, the School has established a (Remuneration &) 
Nominations Committee. The School’s Instrument & Articles of Government state: 

“4. The Nominations Committee will advertise vacancies for co-opted members of the Board of 
Governors which indicate the skills, knowledge and experience required for the post. The 
qualifications should reflect the needs of the Institution in the fields of music, theatre, arts 
management, broadcasting/media and higher education. In making its recommendations to 
the Board of Governors, the Nominations Committee must pay regard to the balance of 
membership and the needs of the Institution and may keep a “skills register” against which to 
consider the field of candidates. The issue of inclusion of members of the local community 
must also be addressed.” 1 

 

The Code expects a Board to establish a rigorous and systematic process for the recruitment and 
retention of governors (including the Chair) with written role descriptors and an analysis of 
the skills, experience and attributes required for membership.  

To date the recruitment process for members has been: 

 Principal and President of the Students’ Union – ex officio 
 Court of Common Council members of the board (including Chair and Deputy Chair) – 

appointed by the Court 
 Staff members – elected by and from the eligible staff in each category (see appendix 1) 
 Co-opted members - informal advertising via networks. Given that there are only six co-

opted members and those members play a pivotal role in supporting the Board with their 
skills and experience in higher education and/or high-level artistic leadership and practice, 
there has often been an urgency to fill a vacancy. 

 

Co-opted members of the Board and its committees 

Going forward, in line with the Instrument of Government the School will be looking to 
advertise its co-opted Board vacancies and, when relevant, co-opted vacancies to the committees 
of the Board. The Remunerations & Nominations Committee will oversee this process for all 
committees ensuring that the Board and its committees are supported by members with 
relevant skills and expertise, and also that steps are taken to search for talent from all sectors of 
society so that the Board and its committees reflects a broad diversity. 

                                                             
1 At previous discussions of the Board of Governors it has been noted that Common Council membership 
guarantees representation some parts of the School’s local community. 

Page 17



Attached at appendix 2a is a draft role descriptor and person specification for a co-opted 
member of the Board of Governors.  It would be adapted for a co-opted member of committee 
of the Board (see appendix 2b for a co-opted member of the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee for instance).  The Governance & Effectiveness Committee has also considered the 
draft role descriptor (2a) and the suggested amendments (notably committee membership and 
chair expectations, re-appointment to a second or third term) have been incorporated. 

Recruitment process 
 
Advertising 

Where roles are advertised the minimum expectation will be:  
 School website 
 CUC website- https://www.universitychairs.ac.uk/vacancies/  (new free service and 

part of the Board Diversification Project at Advance HE) 
 Guardian online 

 
In addition, other fora would be considered subject to costs, eg: 

 Social Media when appropriate– eg LinkedIn  
 Relevant artistic and scholastic organisations and networks -  eg Musicians’ Union, 

Incorporated Society of Musicians, Federation of Drama Schools, Creative Industries 
Council 

 Local media 
 Other national publications such as Times Higher. 

 
Application  

An application form along with the role descriptor will be provided on the School’s website (see 
appendix 3 for draft) to ensure consistency but accompanying CVs for factual information will 
be accepted. 
Ethnicity data for monitoring purposes will be collected.  
Applications will be submitted to the Principal’s Office. 
 
Selection 

Selection will be by a panel comprising: 
 Chair of the Board of Governors (or Deputy Chair) 
 Principal 
 One other (non-School) member of the Board of Governors appointed by the Chair of 

the Board 
 
The panel will short-list the applicants and invite suitable candidates to interview.  
 

Page 18



The panel will make a formal recommendation to the Remuneration & Nominations 
Committee who will then make a recommendation to Board of Governors for Board members, 
or to the relevant committee for other co-opted members.   
 
Administrative arrangements 

The administrative arrangements for advertising and selection will be made by the School 
(Principal’s Office in the first instance).  This will ensure that information about the School is 
consistent and up to date, that fact-checking in respect of the relevant expertise of applicants 
(particularly in respect of HE or artistic experience) can be undertaken, and that monitoring is 
conducted across all appointments.  Appointment letters will be sent out by the Town Clerk’s 
Office. 
 
For future consideration  
In line with the CUC Code, role descriptors for each type of member should be created and 
published. 
The Remuneration & Nominations Committee to consider establishing a process for the 
oversight of the attendance and engagement of all members (not just co-opted). 
 
 
Katharine Lewis 
Secretary & Dean of Students 
 
  

Page 19



Appendix 1: Election of staff members to the Board of 
Governors 
 
For both staff categories (teaching and administrative), the elections are organised by the Town 
Clerk’s Department (liaising with the Secretary & Dean of Students and the Principal’s 
Executive Assistant) with the Town Clerk as the official returning officer. 
 Staff eligibility lists are provided by local HR officers. 
 Advertising of a vacancy is via the Guildhall School staff monthly ezine and on the School’s 

intranet “myGuildhall”. 
 Nominations require a proposer and a seconder from within the relevant category of staff. 
 If an election is required it will be held via a postal ballot, on a “first past the post” system. 
 
 
Election of teaching staff  
Eligibility 
 Academic (Teaching) staff who work 0.3 FTE or above will be eligible to nominate, stand 

and vote. 
 Only teaching/academic staff holding a contract of employment with the City of London 

Corporation will be eligible to vote. 
 Staff who work for both the Guildhall School of Music & Drama and the Barbican Centre 

will be eligible if they meet the 0.3 fte requirement for the School (a combined 0.3fte will 
not count). 

 Only staff who have commenced their contract by the 31 July preceding the election will be 
eligible to vote as the electoral roll will be prepared on the basis of the annual staff HESA 
Return. 

 
Election of administrative staff  
Eligibility 
 Administrative (non-teaching) staff who work at least 0.5 FTE will be eligible to nominate, 

stand and vote. 
 Only administrative staff holding a contract of employment with the City of London 

Corporation will be eligible to vote. 
 Staff who work for both the Guildhall School of Music & Drama and the Barbican Centre 

will be eligible if they meet the 0.5 fte requirement for the School (a combined 0.5fte will 
not count). 

 Only staff who have commenced their contract by the 31 July preceding the election will be 
eligible to vote as the electoral roll will be prepared on the basis of the annual staff HESA 
Return. 

 
Katharine Lewis 
November 2019 
 
  

Page 20



Appendix 2a: Role descriptor and 
person specification for a co-opted 
member of the Board of Governors  
 
[to be inserted top line blurb about the School and its relationship with the 
City of London] 
 

Board of Governors 
 
The Board of Governors comprises: 
(a) 11 members elected by the Court of Common Council of the City of London for a term of 

three years (renewable twice); 
(b) the Principal of the Institution; 
(c) one member of the Institution’s academic staff to be elected by such staff for a term of 

three years (renewable twice); 
(d) one member of the Institution’s administrative staff to be elected by such staff for a term 

of three years (renewable twice); 
(e) one of the Institution’s student representatives who shall normally be the President of the 

Students’ Union; 
(f) up to six co-opted non-City of London Corporation Governors with appropriate expertise 

for a term of three years (renewable twice). 
 
There are usually four board meetings each year, two in the autumn term, one in the spring 
term and one in the summer, plus an annual Board away day in either the spring or summer 
term. 
 
The Board has the following committees that meet regularly throughout the academic year, 
and co-opted members are expected to join at least one committee.  Additionally, co-opted 
members are eligible to stand as Chair and will be encouraged to do so: 

 Finance & Resources Committee 
 Audit & Risk Management Committee 
 Governance & Effectiveness Committee 
 Remuneration & Nominations Committee 

 
Additionally, the Board has an Academic Assurance Working Group that meets annually. 
 
  

Page 21



Statement of primary responsibilities 
The Board of Governors is responsible for: 
(1) the approval of a strategic plan and the determination of the educational character and the 

mission/aims of the Institution and oversight of its activities; 
(2) the effective and efficient use of resources; 
(3) the approval of an annual Business Plan; 
(4) the approval of annual estimates of income and expenditure;  
(5) the setting of fees for students attending the Institution; 
(6) the appointment of the Principal of the Institution and, where appropriate, the deputy; 
(7) the general welfare of students in consultation with the Academic Board; 
(8) the management of the Institution’s land and buildings belonging to the City of London 

Corporation (with the exception of those which are the province of another Committee); 
(9) writing off debts in accordance with such terms and conditions as are from time to time 

established by the Court of Common Council; 
(10) authorising the institution of any civil proceedings (e.g. for recovery of debts) arising 

out of the exercise of its functions. 
 
Each of the above to be subject to the City of London’s Standing Orders, Financial Regulations 
and such other terms and conditions as the City of London may determine, other than where 
varied otherwise.  
 

Co-opted role descriptor 
  
a) Members are expected to play an appropriate part in ensuring that the business of the 

Board of Governors is carried on efficiently, effectively, and in a manner appropriate for 
the proper conduct of public business. 
 

b) Members are expected to make rational and constructive contributions to debate and to 
make their knowledge and expertise available to the Board of Governors as opportunity 
arises. This includes Members putting themselves forward as a member or Chair of a 
committee of the Board. 

 
c) Members are required to accept collective responsibility for the decisions reached by the 

Board of Governors.  
 

d)     Members are responsible for ensuring that the Board fulfils its primary responsibilities 
including but not limited to approving the strategic direction of the School and ensuring 
that the performance of the School is adequately assessed against the objectives which the 
Board has approved. 

 

Page 22



e)     The School is a department of the City of London and Members have a responsibility for 
ensuring that the Board of Governors exercises efficient and effective use of the resources 
of the School both from the City and externally for the furtherance of its educational 
purposes and that proper mechanisms exist to ensure financial control and for the 
prevention of fraud. 

  
f)     Members have a responsibility for ensuring that the Board of Governors acts in accordance 

with the School’s Instrument and Articles of Government, with The Higher Education 
Code of Governance [CUC], and with the City of London’s internal rules and regulations.  
In the event of uncertainty, a member should seek advice from the Clerk (on City matters) 
or the Secretary and Dean of Students (on higher education matters). 

  
g)     Members should endeavour to establish constructive and supportive but challenging 

working relationships with City of London employees (both in the School and centrally) 
but must recognise the proper separation between governance and executive management, 
and avoid involvement in the day-to-day executive management of the School. 

 
h)    Members have a responsibility for ensuring that the Board of Governors and its committees 

are conducted in accordance with accepted standards of behaviour in public life, embracing 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 
Members must at all times regulate their personal conduct as members of the Board of 
Governors in accordance with these standards. 

  
i)     Members must make a full and timely disclosure of personal interests to the Clerk in 

accordance with the procedures set out by the City of London. They must as soon as 
practicable disclose any interest which they have in any matter under discussion and accept 
the ruling of the Chair in relation to the management of that situation, in order that the 
integrity of the business of the Board of Governors and its Committees may be, and may be 
seen to be, maintained. 

  
The External Co-opted Role 
 j)     Co-opted members may be asked to represent the School externally or asked to play a role 

in liaising between key stakeholders and the School. A full briefing will be given by the 
School to enable this role to be carried out effectively. 

  
k)     Members may be asked to use personal influence and networking skills on behalf of the 

School. 
  
  

Page 23



Person specification  

 The Board of Governors and the School is particularly looking for an individual with expertise 
in Finance and/or legal matters within a Higher Education Context. [to be amended as 
appropriate for each advertisement] 
 
Additionally, the individual should have:  
 An active interest in higher education; 
 An active interest in the creative arts 
 A commitment to the Guildhall School as a world class, specialist higher education 

institution regionally, nationally and internationally; 
 A commitment to the School’s mission and vision; 
 A commitment to promoting equality and diversity; 
 A commitment to quality and enhancement; 
 Strong communication skills; 
 Critical listening, analytical and problem solving skills; 
 The ability to work positively with others and to contribute as a member of a team; 
 Time to commit to Board meetings, committees and governor development activities; 
 
The Guildhall School is committed to equal opportunities and welcomes applications from all 
sections of the community. 
 
Practical matters 
(i) Appointment will be for a three-year term in the first instance, with a maximum of three 

terms. Reappointment for a second or third term will be on the recommendation of the 
Remuneration & Nominations Committee to the Board of Governors, who in arriving at a 
recommendation will consider the member’s attendance and engagement at the Board and 
its committees. 

(ii) Board and committee meetings are normally in the morning or early afternoon and last 
two hours. 

(iii) Members are expected to attend all meetings of the Board and any Committees of which 
they are a member, or give timely apologies to the Clerk if absence is unavoidable. 

(iv)  Members of the Board are not remunerated, but members may reclaim travelling and 
similar expenses incurred in attending meetings/events. Full details are available from the 
Clerk.  

(v)  Members will be encouraged to engage in regular appraisal/review of the performance of 
the Boards, its committee and its members as established by the Board of Governors for the 
purpose.   

 
 
KML/November 2019  

Page 24



Appendix 2b: Role descriptor and 
person specification for a co-opted 
member of Audit & Risk Management 
Committee 
 
[to be inserted top line blurb about the School and its relationship with the 
City of London] 
 

Audit & Risk Management Committee 
 
The Audit & Risk Management Committee is a committee of the Board of Governors of the 
Guildhall School of Music & Drama.  It sits alongside the Finance & Resources Committee, the 
Governance & Effectiveness Committee, and the Academic Assurance Working Group. 

 
The responsibilities of the Audit & Risk Management Committee are as follows: 
 To discuss if necessary with the external auditors the nature and scope of proposed audits as 

they relate to the Guildhall School. 
 To discuss if necessary with the external auditors’ problems and reservations arising from 

their audit, including a review of the external auditors’ report to the Committee, and any 
other matters the external auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of officers where 
necessary). 

 To review the internal auditors’ audit risk assessment and strategy, and to consider major 
findings of internal audit investigations and management's response. 

 To keep under review, the effectiveness of the risk management, control and governance 
arrangements, and in particular to review the external auditors’ report, the internal auditors' 
annual report, and management responses. 

 To monitor the implementation of agreed audit-based recommendations, from whatever 
source. 

 To ensure that all significant losses have been properly investigated and that the internal and 
external auditors, and where appropriate the OfS accounting officer, have been informed. 

 To oversee the Guildhall School’s compliance with the City of London’s policy on fraud and 
irregularity, including being notified of any action taken under that policy. 

 To satisfy itself that satisfactory arrangements are in place to promote economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness. 

 To receive any relevant reports from the National Audit Office, Office for Students (OfS) and 
other organisations. 

 To consider elements of the Guildhall School’s draft Income & Expenditure Account for the 
year ending 31 July in the presence of the external auditors if necessary, including the 

Page 25



auditors’ formal opinion, the statement of Governors’ responsibilities and the statement of 
internal control, in accordance with the OfS’s Accounts Directions. 

 To receive the Guildhall School’s management accounts. 
 
The Committee is authorised to carry out the following areas of work: 
 To investigate any activity within its terms of reference.   
 To seek any information it requires from any employee, with all employees directed to co-

operate with any request made by the Committee. 
 To obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance 

of non-members with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary, 
normally in consultation with the Principal of the Guildhall School and/or Chairman of the 
Board of Governors.   

 To review the audit aspects of the Guildhall School’s draft Income & Expenditure Account 
for the year ending 31 July.  These aspects will include the external audit opinion, the 
statement of Governors’ responsibilities, the statement of internal control and any relevant 
issue raised by the external auditors.  The Committee should, where appropriate, confirm 
with the internal and external auditors that the effectiveness of the internal control systems 
has been reviewed, and comment on this in its annual report to the Board of Governors. 

 

Co-opted role descriptor 
  
a) Members are expected to play an appropriate part in ensuring that the business of the Audit 

& Risk Management Committee is carried on efficiently, effectively, and in a manner 
appropriate for the proper conduct of public business. 

 
b) Members are expected to make rational and constructive contributions to debate and to 

make their knowledge and expertise available to the Audit & Risk Management Committee 
as opportunity arises.  
 

c) Members are required to accept collective responsibility for the decisions reached by the 
Audit & Risk Management Committee.  

 
d) Members are responsible for ensuring that the Committee fulfils its responsibilities 

ensuring that the performance of the School is adequately assessed against the objectives 
which the Board has approved. 

 
e) The School is a department of the City of London and Members have a responsibility for 

ensuring that the Board of Governors exercises efficient and effective use of the resources of 
the School both from the City and externally for the furtherance of its educational purposes 

Page 26



and that proper mechanisms exist to ensure financial control and for the prevention of 
fraud. 

 
f) Members have a responsibility for ensuring that the Audit & Risk Management Committee 

acts in accordance with the School’s Instrument and Articles of Government, with The 
Higher Education Code of Governance [CUC], with the Handbook for Members of Audit 
Committees in Higher Education Institutions [CUC], and with the City of London’s 
internal rules and regulations.  In the event of uncertainty, a member should seek advice 
from the Clerk (on City matters) or the Secretary and Dean of Students (on higher 
education matters). 

 
g) Members should endeavour to establish constructive and supportive but challenging 

working relationships with City of London employees (both in the School and centrally) but 
must recognise the proper separation between governance and executive management, and 
avoid involvement in the day-to-day executive management of the School. 

 
h) Members have a responsibility for ensuring that the Committee conducts itself in 

accordance with accepted standards of behaviour in public life, embracing selflessness, 
integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. Members must at all 
times regulate their personal conduct as members of the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee in accordance with these standards. 

 
i) Members must make a full and timely disclosure of personal interests to the Clerk in 

accordance with the procedures set out by the City of London. They must as soon as 
practicable disclose any interest which they have in any matter under discussion and accept 
the ruling of the Chair in relation to the management of that situation, in order that the 
integrity of the business of the Audit & Risk Management Committee may be, and may be 
seen to be, maintained. 

  
Person specification  

The Audit & Risk Management Committee is looking for two individuals with experience, 
preferably within a Higher Education or Arts Management context, in audit, risk management, 
accounting and materiality, and/or value for money frameworks. 
 
Additionally, the individual should have:  
 An active interest in higher education; 
 An active interest in the creative arts 
 A commitment to the Guildhall School as a world class, specialist higher education 

institution regionally, nationally and internationally; 
 A commitment to the School’s mission and vision; 

Page 27



 A commitment to promoting equality and diversity; 
 A commitment to quality and enhancement; 
 Strong communication skills; 
 Critical listening, analytical and problem solving skills; 
 The ability to work positively with others and to contribute as a member of a team; 
 Time to commit to committee meetings and governor development activities. 
 
The Guildhall School is committed to equal opportunities and welcomes applications from all 
sections of the community. 
 
Practical matters 
1. There are usually four committee meetings each year, two in the autumn term, one in the 

spring term and one in the summer 
2. Appointment will be for a three-year term in the first instance, with a maximum of three 

terms. Reappointment for a second or third term will be on the recommendation of the 
Remuneration & Nominations Committee to the Audit & Risk Management Committee, 
who in arriving at a recommendation will consider the member’s attendance and 
engagement at the committee. 

3. Board and committee meetings are currently in the morning or early afternoon and last 
two hours. 

4. Members are expected to attend all meetings of the committee or give timely apologies to 
the Clerk if absence is unavoidable. 

5. Members of the Committee are not remunerated, but members may reclaim travelling and 
similar expenses incurred in attending meetings/events. Full details are available from the 
Clerk.  

6. Members will be encouraged to engage in regular appraisal/review of the performance of 
the committee as established by the Board of Governors for the purpose.   

 
 
KML/November 2019 
  

Page 28



Appendix 3: 
Application to fill a co-opted member 
vacancy on the Board of Governors or 
committee 
 
Use of your data   
The Guildhall School and the City of London Corporation (“the City Corporation”) are committed to protecting 
your privacy. The data collected on this form will be used only for the purpose of recruiting a new member of a 
Board or Committee and for monitoring purposes.  Your data will only be shared with those involved in the 
recruitment process. Details about the School’s and the City’s privacy notices can be found at: 
https://www.gsmd.ac.uk/privacy 
 
Equal opportunities 
The Guildhall School is committed to equal opportunities and welcomes applications from all sections of the 
community. 
 
1. PERSONAL DETAILS 
 

Title (Mr/Mrs/Ms/Dr, etc) 

 

 

First name  Surname 

  

 

Permanent home address and postcode 

 

 

Preferred contact telephone number  Preferred email address 

  

 
 

2. Skills and Experience 
 

Please give details of your academic, professional and/or vocational skills, experience and 
qualifications relevant to your application for the vacant co-opted position on the Board of 
Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama.   

 Please ensure you reference the particular skills-set being sought for this vacancy. 

Page 29



 Please explanation why you are particularly interested in supporting the Guildhall School 
by undertaking this role. 

 Please ensure you include details of your current occupation, if any. 
 A short CV (no more than 3 pages) may be attached to provide factual detail. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 

 

3.   Bodies or organisations on which you currently serve 
 

Please list any other bodies or organisations on which you currently serve (with dates) 

 

 
 
4.   REFERENCES 
 

Please give the details of two individuals, not related to you, who have agreed to be 
contacted by the Guildhall School about your application and can comment on your 
skills and experience that are relevant to the vacant role.   
 
Name 
 

  
Name 

 

Address  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Address  

Tel no: 
 

 Tel no:   

Email address:  
 

 Email address:   

Relationship to 
you/role in 
organisation: 
 

 Relationship to 
you/role in 
organisation: 
 

 

 
Please note that references may be requested before interviews take place. 
 

Page 31



5. Other information 
 

(i) Do you have a disability? (please tick as appropriate) 
 Yes                                                          No                   

If yes, please indicate whether there are any special provisions, equipment, or other assistance 
we can provide to help you attend an interview. 

 

 

 

 

(ii) Ethnicity monitoring – please tick a box below to identify your ethnicity.  The School will 
use this data to help it evaluate its recruitment and plan for future provision. 

 Asian or Asian British - Indian (31) 

 Asian or Asian British - Pakistani (32) 

 Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi (3 

 Other Asian Background (39) 

 Chinese (34) 

 Black or Black British – Caribbean (21) 

 Black or Black British – African (22) 

 Other Black background (29) 

 Mixed - White and Black Caribbean (41) 

 Mixed - White and Black African (42) 

 Mixed - White and Asian (43) 

 Other Mixed background (49) 

 White (10) 

 Other Ethnic Background (80) 

 Information refused (98) 

 

6. Please sign and date this form 
 

I declare that the information I have given is true and complete. 
 

 

Signed ………………………………………………………….  Date ……………………………..……..……..…….. 

 

 

Please return this completed application form by 5pm on xxxxx 2019 to 
principal@gsmd.ac.uk 

 

Page 32



Committee(s):
Remuneration & Nominations Committee of the Board 
of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama

Date(s):

18/11/2019

Subject:
Remuneration Annual Report

Public

Report of:
Principal, Guildhall School of Music & Drama

Report author:
Head of HR, Barbican & Guildhall School of Music & 
Drama  

For Decision

Summary

This paper sets out a proposed Remuneration Annual Report for the Guildhall 
School as required by the Office for Students.

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to:
 Approve the Remuneration Annual Report set out in Appendix 1.

Main Report

Background

1. The Office for Students (OfS) does not have legal powers to regulate the pay 
of senior staff in the higher education sector directly. However, they have a 
duty to take into account the value for money higher education providers offer 
for the public money they receive.

2. The OfS set conditions for the public money which higher education providers 
receive. In the case of staff pay, providers must:

 share specific information with the OfS

 publish specific information in their audited financial statements

 take into account the code for senior staff remuneration published by the 
Committee of University Chairs (CUC). This CUC code requires the 
production of a Remuneration Annual Report. The code sets out a 
suggested format of the report and we have followed this in the production 
of the report for the Guildhall School.

Page 33

Agenda Item 9

https://www.universitychairs.ac.uk/higher-education-remuneration-code-2/
https://www.universitychairs.ac.uk/higher-education-remuneration-code-2/


3. The Corporation already publishes a Pay Policy Statement (see Appendix 2) 
covering the remuneration of staff, including those at the Guildhall School, 
and the proposed Remuneration Annual Report will therefore refer to the 
overall Pay Policy Statement. 

Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Remuneration Annual Report
 Appendix 2 – Corporation Pay Policy Statement
 Appendix 3 – HE Remuneration Code

Contact:
Steve Eddy
Head of HR (Guildhall School of Music & Drama and Barbican)
0207 382 6148
steve.eddy@barbican.org.uk 

Page 34

mailto:steve.eddy@barbican.org.uk


Appendix 1

Guildhall School of Music & Drama
Annual report on Senior Staff Remuneration for year ended 31/07/2019

1. Introduction

The Guildhall School of Music & Drama’s Remuneration & Nominations Committee 
provides advice to the Board of Governors. It is recognised that all matters relating to 
the employment and remuneration of staff fall within the purview of the City of 
London’s Establishment Committee – further details of this committee are available 
here. Terms of reference for the Remuneration & Nominations Committee of the 
Guildhall School are available here (link to be inserted following publication of the 
agenda).

2. Remuneration & Nominations Committee Membership

Membership of the Committee is as follows:

 Chair of the Committee: a co-opted governor who is not the Chair of the 
Board

Other members:
 The Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music & 

Drama 
 The Deputy Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of 

Music & Drama
 At least two non-Common Council Governors
 At least one other Common Council Governor
 An elected staff member of the Board
 May include up to two other co-opted members (who are not necessarily 

members of the governing body)

Membership during 2018/19 (ending 31 July 2019) was as follows:
 Randall Anderson
 Sir Andrew Burns (Chairman) (until May 2019)
 John Bennett (until May 2019)
 John Chapman
 Professor Maria Delgado (until May 2019)
 Marianne Fredericks (from May 2019)
 Shreela Ghosh (from May 2019)
 Michael Hoffman 
 Vivienne Littlechild 
 Graham Packham (from May 2019)
 Alderman William Russell (until May 2019)
 Andy Taylor (from May 2019)

Page 35

http://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=253


Note: until November 2018, the Remuneration Committee and Nominations 
Committee were separate bodies. The above information includes membership of the 
Remuneration Committee only until the time of the merger.

3. Remuneration & Nominations Committee Meetings

The Committee met during the year on 31/10/218 and 29/04/2019. Details of the 
meetings are available here.

4. Definition of senior post holders

The Guildhall School defines senior postholders as the following:
 Principal
 Vice Principal & Director of Music
 Vice Principal & Director of Drama
 Vice Principal & Director of Production Arts
 Vice principal & Director of Innovation & Engagement
 Vice Principal & Director of Advancement

5. Approach to remuneration for all staff 

The Guildhall School is part of the City of London Corporation and the approach to 
remuneration of all staff is outlined in the Pay Policy Statement which is available 
here.

6. Approach to remuneration for senior staff  

The approach to senior staff remuneration at the Guildhall School follows the City of 
London Corporation’s wide pay system as detailed in the Pay Policy Statement. 

Being a small specialist institution and based in the City of London, there are some 
posts which are difficult to recruit. Accordingly, there is often the need to use market 
forces supplements to attract, recruit and retain highly sought after skills. Any 
request for a market supplement must be supported by independent market data and 
is considered by a panel of senior officers and the Establishment Committee of the 
City of London where appropriate. The Establishment Committee is responsible for 
personnel and establishment matters throughout the City of London, including 
negotiations with the recognised trade unions and is is not within the Guildhall 
School’s governance structure. The data that supports remuneration 
recommendations is drawn from:

 Higher Education Statistics Agency data
 Times Higher Education salary data
 Reports and reviews from external experts commissioned by Human 

Resources

Page 36

http://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1273
http://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s107859/Pay%20Policy%20Statement%20201819.pdf


 Internal analysis of salary distributions, performance and contribution to the 
strategy of the Guildhall School

7. Pay multiple of the Principal

The Principals basic salary is 6.3 times the median pay of staff (2017/18: 6.2 times), 
where the median pay is calculated on a full-time equivalent basis for the salaries 
paid to Guildhall School staff.

The Principals total remuneration is 5.3 times the median total remuneration of staff 
(2017/18: 5.3 times), where the median total remuneration is calculated on a full-time 
equivalent basis for the median total remuneration paid to Guildhall School staff.

8. Total Remuneration for the Principal

The total remuneration for the Principal, with year on year comparison is set out 
below.

Emoluments of the 
Principal

Year ended 31/07/2019 Year ended 31/07/2018

£000 £000
Salaries 174 167
Employer’s NI 23 22
Benefits in kind - 5
Pension contributions 36 35
Total 233 229

9. External appointments and expenses

The policy on income from external appointments is set out in the City of London 
Corporation’s Code of Conduct for employees.  Any work undertaken on behalf of 
the Guildhall School or City Corporation or which contributes to the work of the 
Guildhall School or City Corporation or is requested/delivered on the basis of being 
an employee of the City Corporation and which attracts a fee/ is paid e.g. a 
presentation or lecture, will need approval by the Principal and the fees will need to 
be paid to the City Corporation. In the case of the Principal, approval from the City 
Corporation’s Town Clerk is required.

All expenses are paid in accordance with the City of London Corporation’s Expenses 
Policy

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



   

 

 

January 2018 
  Page 1 of 11  

City of London Corporation 

 
Pay Policy Statement 2018/19   
 
 
Table of Contents 

 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 2 

Background ............................................................................................................................. 4 

Staff below Senior Management ............................................................................................. 5 

Senior Management ................................................................................................................ 6 

Other Payments ...................................................................................................................... 9 

Transparency .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Recruitment ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Payments on Ceasing Office ............................................................................................. 10 

Retirement ......................................................................................................................... 10 

Redundancy ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Settlement of potential claims ........................................................................................... 11 

Payment in lieu of notice ................................................................................................... 11 

Re-employment ................................................................................................................. 11 

Publication of information relating to remuneration ............................................................... 12 

 
  

Page 39



 

 
January 2018    Page 2 of 11 

Introduction 
 

1. Section 38(i) of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) has required local authorities 
since the financial year 2012/13 to produce a pay policy statement for each 
financial year. This applies to the City of London Corporation in its capacity as 
a local authority and this document meets the requirements of the Act for the 
City of London Corporation for the financial year 2018/19. 
 

2. We are required to set out our approach to a range of issues, particularly 
those relating to remuneration for the most senior staff and our lowest-paid 
staff. These provisions do not apply to staff of local authority schools or 
teaching staff in the three independent City of London Corporation Schools. 
 

3. The provisions of the Act require that authorities are more open about their 
local policies and how local decisions are made. The Code of Recommended 
Practice for Local Authorities on Data Transparency enshrines the principles 
of transparency and asks authorities to follow three principles when publishing 
data they hold: responding to public demand; releasing data in open formats 
available for re-use; and, releasing data in a timely way. This includes data on 
senior salaries and the structure of the workforce. 
 

4. All decisions on pay and reward for senior staff must comply with this 
statement. The statement must be reviewed annually and agreed by the Court 
of Common Council. 
 

5. The Localism Act applies to the City of London Corporation only in its capacity 
as a local authority. In general, and in keeping with the spirit of openness, this 
Statement does not try to distinguish between information which applies to the 
City Corporation as a local authority and that which applies to it in any of its 
other capacities. However, insofar as the Act specifically excludes police 
authorities from its remit, this Statement does not include information about 
Police Officers. The Act does not require authorities to publish specific 
numerical data on pay and reward in their pay policy document. However, 
information in this Statement should fit with any data on pay and reward which 
is published separately. The City Corporation operates consistent pay policies 
which are applied across all of our functions. Further details of the grade 
structures and associated pay scales can be seen below. 

 

 

Page 40



 

 
January 2018    Page 3 of 11 

     Salary Scales – effective from 1 July 2017 

             

  This information is reviewed, updated and published on a regular basis in 
  accordance with the guidance on data transparency and by the Accounts and 
  Audit (England) Regulations 2011. It should be noted that all Police Officer pay 
  scales are nationally determined and as such do not form part of the City  
  Corporation’s Pay Policy.  
 
 
 
 
 

Grade Min Salary (£) Max Salary (£) 
Grade A £14,390 £15,290 
Grade B £16,680 £19,370 
Grade C £21,780 £25,270 
Grade D £27,590 £32,000 
Grade E £32,000 £37,070 
Grade F £40,510 £46,980 
Grade G £48,370 £56,120 
Grade H £56,120 £65,020 
Grade I £65,020 £75,360 
Grade J £77,640 £90,010 
Senior 
Management 
Grade 

£91,780 £243,430 

Any employee on Grades A-J who manages or supervises another 
employee on the same Grade has a separate pay scale paying up to 
6.1% greater than the salary on the substantive Grade.  Any employee 
on Grades A-J who is in a residential post has a separate pay scale 
paying 12.5% less than the salary on the substantive Grade. Figures 
above exclude the London Weighting Allowance. 
Teacher Grades £28,630 £58,480 
Senior Teacher 
Grades 

£68,580 £143,170 

Figures for Teacher Grades exclude any additional responsibility 
allowances payable. Figures for Senior Teacher Grades include all 
payments. 
 

Page 41



 

 
January 2018    Page 4 of 11 

6. The Act’s provisions do not supersede the City Corporation’s autonomy to 
make decisions on pay which are appropriate to local circumstances and 
deliver value for money for local taxpayers. We seek to be a fair employer and 
an employer of choice - recognising and rewarding the contributions of staff in 
an appropriate way. We set pay fairly within published scales and, in doing so, 
have regard to changing conditions in differing occupational and geographic 
labour markets. 

 
Background 

 
7. All pay and terms and conditions of service are locally negotiated with our 

recognised trade unions or staff representatives. In 2006/07 extensive work 
was undertaken on a review of our pay and grading structures. As a result, 
the principles set out in the guidance to the Act have already generally been 
addressed although the Act set out some additional requirements which are 
covered by this statement. 
  

8. In 2007 we implemented a number of core principles, via collective 
agreement, to form the City Corporation’s pay strategy. This moved the pay 
and reward strategy from one based entirely on time-served increments to 
one which focusses on a balance between incremental progression, individual 
performance and contribution to the success of the organisation. A 
fundamental element of the strategy is that achievement of contribution 
payments is more onerous and exacting the more senior the member of staff. 
 

9. There has been a pay award of 1.5% on basic salaries agreed for all staff 
commensurate with the Government’s pay policy. This was agreed by 
delegated authority from the Court of Common Council in October 2017 and 
was effective from 1 July 2017. A 4% increase was also added to the London 
Weighting allowance rates for all staff. London Weighting allowance rates do 
not differ between Grades of staff.  
 

10.  The London Living Wage (LLW) is applied as a minimum rate for all directly 
employed staff, including Apprentices since April 2017. This is increased from 
1 April each year in line with the most recently announced LLW increase. 
Casual staff and agency workers have also been paid the London Living 
Wage since 2014, with increases being applied from 1 April each year. 

 

 

Page 42



 

 
January 2018    Page 5 of 11 

Staff below Senior Management  
 

11. All non-teaching staff employed by the City Corporation below the Senior 
Management Grade have been allocated to one of 10 Grades (Grades A-J), 
other than in a very small number of exceptional cases, such as apprentices. 
All such posts were reviewed under Job Evaluation, ranked in order and 
allocated to a Grade following the Pay & Grading Review in 2007. The 
evaluation scheme was independently equalities-impact-assessed to ensure 
that it was inherently fair and unbiased. New posts and any existing posts that 
change their levels of responsibility etc. continue to be evaluated and ranked 
under the scheme. The scheme, how it is applied, the scoring mechanism and 
how scores relate to Grades are published on our Intranet, so staff can be 
assured that the process is fair and transparent. In addition, there is an appeal 
mechanism agreed with the recognised trade unions and staff 
representatives. 
 

12. The lowest Graded and paid staff are in Grade A as determined by the 
outcomes of the job evaluation process. In 2016 the bottom two incremental 
points of this Grade were removed, and an additional point was added to the 
top of it. The current lowest point on Grade A is now £20,190, including a 
London Weighting allowance for working in Inner London. The current pay 
range for Grades A - J is £20,190 to £95,810 inclusive of Inner London 
Weighting of £5,800 for non-residential employees. 
 

• Grades A-C are the lowest grades in the City Corporation. They have 
up to 6 increments which can be achieved subject to satisfactory 
performance. There is no Contribution Pay assessment. However, 
employees in these Grades have the opportunity if they have 
undertaken exceptional work to be considered for a Recognition Award 
up to a maximum level set corporately each year (this has been £500 
in each year since 2010). 
 
• Grades D-J have 4 ‘core’ increments and 2 ‘contribution’ increments. 
Progression through the 4 ‘core’ increments is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Progression into and through the 2 ‘contribution’ 
increments requires performance to be at a higher than satisfactory 
level. Once at the top of the scale, for those who achieve the highest 
standards of performance and contribution, it is possible to earn a one-
off non-consolidated Contribution Payment of up to 3% or 6% of basic 

Page 43



 

 
January 2018    Page 6 of 11 

pay depending on the assessed level of contribution over the previous 
year. 
 
• The Senior Management Grade comprises the most senior roles in 
the organisation. As these are distinct roles, posts are individually 
evaluated and assessed independently against the external market 
allowing each post to be allocated an individual salary range within the 
Grade. Any increase in salary (whether through incremental 
progression or a cost-of-living award) is entirely dependent on each 
individual being subject to a rigorous process of assessment and 
evaluation and is based on their contribution to the success of the 
organisation. 
 

13.  The City of London operates a distribution curve to advise on a fair and 
consistent distribution of Contribution Payments for staff in Grades D-J. This 
helps to place limits on the number of eligible staff who, in any one year, 
progress to the two highest increments on the relevant Grades or receive a 
Contribution Payment. For the appraisal year ending March 2017, 67.5% of 
eligible staff were allowed to move into the two higher contribution increments 
and 63% of eligible staff received a one-off non-consolidated contribution 
payment. 
 

Senior Management  
 

14. The term Senior Management incorporates the following posts: 
• Town Clerk & Chief Executive 
• Chamberlain 
• Comptroller & City Solicitor 
• Remembrancer 
• City Surveyor 
• Director of the Built Environment 
• Managing Director of the Barbican Centre 
• Principal of the Guildhall School of Music & Drama 
• Director of Community & Children’s Services 
• Director of the Economic Development Office 
• Executive Director of Mansion House and the Central Criminal Court 
• Director of HR 
• Director of Markets & Consumer Protection 
• Director of Open Spaces 

Page 44



 

 
January 2018    Page 7 of 11 

15. The Head Teachers of the City of London School, City of London School for  
Girls and City of London Freemen’s School are not part of the Senior 
Management Group for the purposes of pay (their pay is governed by a 
separate teaching pay scale, as outlined in paragraph 5). The pay of the post 
of Remembrancer is aligned to Senior Civil Service pay scales.  
 

16. It should be noted that not all of the costs of the above posts are funded from 
public resources. The City of London has private and charitable functions 
which receive funding through income from endowment and trust funds as 
well as having statutory local authority functions. 
 

17. Following the principles outlined above, the pay ranges for the Senior 
Management Grade were set with reference to both job evaluation and an 
independent external market assessment. The principles of this were agreed 
by the Court of Common Council in 2007 and, subsequently, the specific 
unique range for each senior management post was agreed by the 
Establishment Committee in October 2007, subject to alteration thereafter 
when the duties or responsibilities of posts or other external factors relevant to 
their pay and reward change. Current Senior Management salary scales are 
from £91,780 to £243,430, excluding London Weighting. 
 

18. Each Senior Management Grade post is allocated a range around a datum 
point. There is a maximum and minimum (datum plus 9% and datum minus 
6% respectively) above and below which no individual salary can fall. Where a 
pay increase for a member of staff would take them above the maximum in a 
given year, the excess amount above the maximum may be paid as a non-
consolidated payment in that year. This does not form part of basic salary for 
the following year and will, therefore, have to be earned again by superior 
performance for it to be paid.  
 

19. Each year the datum point advances by a percentage equivalent to any “cost 
of living” pay award. Individual salaries would move according to the table 
below: 

 

Contribution Level Salary Change 
A Outstanding Datum % change + up to 6% 
B Very Good Datum % change + up to 4% 
C Good Datum % change 
D Improvement Required 0.0 % 

 

Page 45



 

 
January 2018    Page 8 of 11 

20. The average payment based on contribution alone has been 2.69% for the 
appraisal year ending in March 2017. The payments have been largely non-
consolidated i.e. they have to be re-earned each year based on superior 
performance. 
 

21. Fundamental changes to pay for any roles in the Senior Management Grade 
are determined by the Town Clerk and Chief Executive in consultation with 
the Establishment Committee and relevant Service Committee.  The Town 
Clerk & Chief Executive deals with all salary matters for senior staff (other 
than in relation to himself) within the existing individual Grades and reward 
policies. The Director of HR deals with any such matters in relation to the 
Town Clerk & Chief Executive in consultation with the Chairmen of Policy and 
Resources, Finance and Establishment Committees. 

 
22. The Act specifies that in addition to senior salaries, authorities must also 

make clear what approach they take to the award of other elements of senior 
remuneration including bonuses and performance-related pay as well as 
severance payments. This should include any policy to award additional fees 
for Chief Officers for their local election duties. 
 

23. The scheme for pay increases and contribution pay for the Senior 
Management Grade is set out above. Staff in the Senior Management Grade 
do not have an element of their basic pay “at risk” to be earned back each 
year. Progression is, however, subject to successful performance assessed 
through the application of the performance-appraisal scheme. No one in the 
Senior Management Grade receives any additional payments or fees for City 
of London Corporation electoral duties. 

 
24. Set out below are the broad pay ranges for the Senior Management Grade, 

with the numbers in each band, excluding London Weighting. Each member 
of staff will have an individual salary scale within these broad ranges. 

 

 
 

25. The Act requires authorities to set their policies on remuneration for their 
highest-paid staff alongside their policies towards their lowest-paid staff, and 
to explain what they think the relationship should be between the 
remuneration of their highest-paid staff and other staff. The City Corporation’s 

£91,780 - £112.870  (3) 
£109,610 - £147,270  (6) 
£151,680 - £186,570  (4) 
£209,970 - £243,430   (1) 

Page 46



 

 
January 2018    Page 9 of 11 

pay multiple - the ratio between the highest paid and lowest paid staff - is 
approximately 1:13. The ratio between the taxable earnings for the highest 
paid member of staff and the median earnings figure for all staff in the 
authority is 1:7.  

 

Other Payments  
 

26. In addition to basic salary, all Graded staff are paid a London Weighting 
allowance which varies depending on where they are based and whether they 
are supplied by the employer with residential accommodation. This is to assist 
staff with the higher cost of living and working in London. Current levels of 
London Weighting for non-residential staff are £5,800 for those based in inner 
London and £3,480 in outer London. 
 

27. Being based in the City of London, there are some types of posts which are 
difficult to recruit to e.g. lawyers, IT staff etc. Accordingly, there is often the 
need to use market supplements to attract, recruit and retain highly sought-
after skills. Any request for a market supplement must be supported by 
independent market data and is considered by a panel of senior officers and 
the Establishment Committee where appropriate. 
 

28. All market supplement payments are kept under regular review and reported 
to Members. No member of staff in the Senior Management Grade receives a 
market supplement. 
 

Transparency 
 

29. The Act requires the pay policy statement to make reference to policies in 
relation to staff leaving the authority, senior staff moving posts within the 
public sector, and senior staff recruitment.  

 

Recruitment 
 

30. New staff, including those in the Senior Management Grade, are normally 
appointed to the bottom of the particular pay scale applicable for the post. If 
the existing salary falls within the pay scale for the post, the appointment is 
normally appointed to the lowest point on the scale which is higher than their 
existing salary provided this gives them a pay increase commensurate with 
the additional higher-level duties. In cases where the existing salary is higher 

Page 47



 

 
January 2018    Page 10 of 11 

than all points on the pay scale for the new role, the member of staff is 
normally appointed to the top of the pay scale for the role.  
 
For posts where the salary is £100,000 or more, the following approvals will 
be required:  
i) in respect of all new posts - the Court of Common Council.  
ii) in respect of all existing posts - the Establishment Committee.  
 

Payments on Ceasing Office 
 

31. Staff who leave the City Corporation, including the Town Clerk & Chief 
Executive and staff on the Senior Management Grade are not entitled to 
receive any payments from the authority, except in the case of redundancy or 
retirement as indicated below. 

 

Retirement 
 

32. Staff who contribute to the Local Government Pension Scheme who retire 
from age 55 onwards may elect to receive immediate payment of their 
pension benefits on a reduced basis in accordance with the Scheme. 
Unreduced benefits are payable if retirement is from Normal Pension Age, 
with normal pension age linked to the State Pension Age from 1 April 2014, 
unless protections in the Pension Scheme allow for an earlier date. Early 
retirement, with immediate payment of pension benefits, is also possible 
under the Pension Scheme following redundancy or business efficiency 
grounds from age 55 onwards and on grounds of permanent ill-health at any 
age. 

 
33. Whilst the Local Government Pension Scheme allows applications for flexible 

retirement from staff aged 55 or over, where staff reduce their hours or Grade, 
it is the City Corporation’s policy to agree to these only where there are clear 
financial or operational advantages to the organisation. Benefits are payable 
in accordance with Regulation 27 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013. Unless there are exceptional circumstances, the City 
Corporation does not make use of the discretion allowed by the LGPS 
Regulations to waive any actuarial reduction in pensions awarded under the 
flexible-retirement provisions. 

 

 

Page 48



 

 
January 2018    Page 11 of 11 

Redundancy 
 

34. Staff who are made redundant are entitled to receive statutory redundancy 
pay as set out in legislation calculated on a week’s pay (currently a maximum 
of £489 per week). The City Corporation currently bases the calculation on 1.5 
x actual salary. This scheme may be amended from time to time subject to 
Member decision and has recently been so amended for staff made 
redundant on or after 25 October 2017. The authority’s policy on discretionary 
compensation for relevant staff under the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2006 is published on our website. 

 

Settlement of potential claims 
 

35. Where a member of staff leaves the City Corporation’s service in 
circumstances which would, or would be likely to, give rise to an action 
seeking redress through the courts from the organisation about the nature of 
the member of staff’s departure from our employment, such claims may be 
settled by way of a settlement agreement where it is in the City Corporation’s 
interests to do so based on advice from the Comptroller & City Solicitor. The 
amount to be paid in any such instance may include an amount of 
compensation, which is appropriate in all the circumstances of the individual 
case. Should such a matter involve the departure of a member of staff in the 
Senior Management Grade or the Town Clerk & Chief Executive, any such 
compensation payment will only be made following consultation with the 
Chairmen of Policy & Resources and Establishment Committees and legal 
advice that it would be legal, proper and reasonable to pay it.  

Payment in lieu of notice 

36.  In exceptional circumstances, where it suits service needs, payments in lieu 
of notice are made to staff on the termination of their contracts. 

 

Re-employment 
 

37. Applications for employment from staff who have retired or been made 
redundant from the City Corporation or another authority will be considered in 
accordance with our normal recruitment policy.  

Page 49



 

 
January 2018    Page 12 of 11 

 
 
Publication of information relating to remuneration 

  
38. The City Corporation will seek to publish details of positions with remuneration 

of £50,000 or above in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 and the Local Government Transparency Code issued by the Secretary 
of State for Communities and Local Government. 

 
39.  This Pay Policy Statement will be published on our public website. It may be 

amended at any time during 2018/19 by the resolution of the Court of 
Common Council. Any amendments will also be published on our public 
website. 
 

40.  This statement meets the requirements of the: Localism Act 2011; the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) guidance on 
“Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the 
Localism Act” (including any supplementary Guidance issued); “The Local 
Government Transparency Code 2015”; and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015. 

 

41.  From 2018, the City of London Corporation is required under the Equality Act 
2010 to publish information every year showing the pay gap between male 
and female employees.  The City of London Corporation will be publishing its 
first report on Gender Pay Gap by the 31 March 2018.   

 
January 2018 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



The Higher Education Senior Staff 
Remuneration Code

June 2018

Page 51



2

Introduction

1. Fair and appropriate remuneration is key to the success and development of the UK’s HE sector, operating 
as it does in an intensively competitive global environment¹. To support members of governing bodies, 
this Higher Education Senior Staff Remuneration Code (the Remuneration Code) has been developed after 
wide consultation with CUC members and HE stakeholders. This Code will be reviewed every four years, in 
consultation with the sector.

2. The different regulatory frameworks of the HE sector within the UK mean that governing bodies will need to 
decide how best to use the Remuneration Code. Institutions are bound by the relevant accounts direction 
issued by their regulator. In addition, Welsh institutions have agreed to more extensive senior pay reporting 
and are working towards developing annual pay policy statements. In Scotland, institutions will use the 
Scottish Code of Good Higher Education Governance², which indicates how institutions should meet the key 
principles of good practice in remuneration. They may choose to use the Remuneration Code as an additional 
source of accepted good practice. In England, in assessing compliance with conditions of registration, the 
Office for Students (OfS) may consider the provider’s information about the pay of senior staff within its 
audited financial statements and whether the governing body publishes its written commitment to comply 
with this Code. 

3. By visibly adopting the Remuneration Code, governing bodies demonstrate leadership and stewardship in 
relation to remuneration within their institutions, and in doing so help to protect institutional reputation 
and provide greater assurances to key stakeholders and partners, including the student community and 
wider society.

4. The use of this Code is voluntary, and it can be used by all HE providers. Some elements may not be 
appropriate for all providers, for example, those with an owner-manager who may take a dividend from the 
business. The Remuneration Code is therefore to be used on an ‘apply or explain’ basis. This means that 
institutions should either publicly state that they have abided by the minimum requirements of this Code, 
or should provide meaningful explanations for non-compliance and how their alternative arrangements 
meet its principles.

5. Throughout this Code the word ‘must’ identifies the CUC’s view of the minimum requirements for an 
institution wishing to comply with it. Governing bodies are free to meet ‘must’ statements by the means and 
mechanisms appropriate to their own context. The Remuneration Code is supported by a set of explanatory 
notes which are designed to assist governing bodies in developing their own responses. The use of the word 
‘should’ identifies good practice which institutions are encouraged to adopt.

6. The principles outlined in this Code apply to all remuneration decisions affecting the emoluments of the 
Vice-Chancellor and other senior post holders as prescribed in constitutional documents or by the governing 
body as being within the remit of the Remuneration Committee. In England, they also apply to senior staff as 
defined in the OfS accounts direction.

¹ The context the sector operates within is explored in greater detail at www.universitychairs.ac.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2018/06/HE-Remuneration-Code-Context.pdf.

² www.scottishuniversitygovernance.ac.uk

Page 52

http://www.universitychairs.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/HE-Remuneration-Code-Context.pdf
http://www.universitychairs.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/HE-Remuneration-Code-Context.pdf
http://www.scottishuniversitygovernance.ac.uk


3

Elements of fair and appropriate remuneration

Fair and appropriate remuneration³ requires three key elements – namely that there is:

I. a fair, appropriate and justifiable level of remuneration;
II. procedural fairness; and
III. transparency and accountability.

 
Each of these elements are underpinned by several supporting principles.

Element I - A fair, appropriate and justifiable level of remuneration

Remuneration starts with a clear understanding of the responsibilities, context and expected contribution of a role 
and the attributes required to undertake that role effectively. Fair and appropriate remuneration then recognises 
an individual’s contribution to their institution’s success in that role, and is sufficient to recruit, retain and motivate 
staff of appropriate calibre in the context of the market for that role, balanced with the need to demonstrate the 
achievement of value for money in the use of resources.

Principles

a) Remuneration should take account of the context in which the institution operates.

b) Remuneration must be linked to the value, based on a number of components, delivered by an individual 
acting within a role. 

c) Remuneration must consider matters of equality, diversity and inclusion with a view to ensuring that 
there are no biases pertaining to gender or other protected characteristics within the pay structure.

d) Institutions should be clear about what they expect from staff, i.e. what is ‘normal’ and what is 
‘exceptional’. There should be a robust and consistent process for setting objectives and assessing an 
individual’s contribution.

e) Remuneration can vary according to individual performance.⁴

f) Awards made in respect of annual bonus arrangements linked to the achievement of specific annual 
objectives should not be consolidated.

g) From time to time the value of a role may need to be reviewed in light of changing conditions, sustained 
performance, experience etc.

h) Non-achievement of an individual’s expected contribution should have consequences.

i) Any severance payments must be reasonable and justifiable.

j) There should be a clear and justifiable rationale for the retention of any income generated by an 
individual from external bodies in a personal capacity.

The Remuneration Code

³  Remuneration includes not only basic salary but also bonuses, expenses and other allowances, and the 
monetary value of benefits in kind including housing and cars, etc.

⁴  The decision to apply performance-related pay is for individual HEIs to make. Nothing in this Code is intended 
to imply that performance-related pay is a requirement for fair and appropriate remuneration.

Page 53



4

Element II – Procedural fairness

Procedural fairness requires remuneration to be set through a process that is based on competent people applying 
a consistent framework with independent decision making using appropriate evidence and assessing the value of 
roles, the context and individuals’ performance in them.

Principles

a) Senior post holder remuneration should be determined in the context of each institution’s approach to 
rewarding all of its staff, and in particular, consideration should be given annually to the rate of increase 
of the average remuneration of all other staff.

b) No individual can be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

c) Remuneration Committees must be independent and competent. 

d) The head of the institution (HoI) must not be a member of the Remuneration Committee.

e) Remuneration Committees, when considering HoI remuneration, must be chaired by a lay governor who 
is not Chair of the governing body.

Element III - Transparency and accountability

The process for setting remuneration must be transparent. For senior post holders there must be an institutional-
level justification for remuneration that relates to the competitive environment, the value of the roles and 
institutional performance. The remuneration of the HoI must be separately justified, published and related to the 
remuneration of all staff within the organisation.

Principles

Each institution must publish a readily accessible annual statement, based on an annual report to its 
governing body, containing:

a) a list of post holders within the remit of Remuneration Committee;

b) its policy on the remuneration for post holders within the remit of Remuneration Committee;

c) its choice of comparator institutions/organisations;

d) its policy on income derived from external activities;

e) the pay multiple of the HoI and the median earnings of the institution’s whole workforce, illustrating how 
that multiple has changed over time and, if it is significantly above average, an explanation of why; and 

f) an explanation of any significant changes.

The Remuneration Code

Page 54



5

Explanatory notes

1. Institutions will be able to apply the above principles in a way that is appropriate to their circumstances. 
These notes do not expand the Remuneration Code, but are intended to assist institutions’ discussions as to 
their use of it. 

2. Remuneration must be linked to the value delivered by an individual acting within a role. The value of a role is 
based on a number of components and criteria for assessing the value of roles, which could include:

 • complexity (scale and range of decision making, collaboration and contact, time-critical activity);

 • impact (on students, research, finances and people, including employees, partners and citizens);

 • discretion (level of accountability, degree of autonomy and decision-making authority);

 • levels of experience;

 • knowledge and skills (including specialist skills) required;

 • reputation and academic/professional credibility needed for the role;

 • an ability to recruit and retain key staff; and

 • external comparisons.

3. To retain staff, Remuneration Committees need to consider market position – typically by looking at a set of 
comparator institutions/organisations. The choice of these comparators will usually be linked to institutional 
strategy. Comparator selection may depend on the type of post being filled – for example private and 
public sector comparisons are often used for professional services staff, whereas NHS and international HEI 
comparisons may be more appropriate for certain academic staff. 

4. Institutions also need to reflect on what the consequences will be in instances where individuals do 
not deliver the expected contribution. Consequences for individuals will depend on the nature of the 
remuneration package offered, but might mean no uplift of basic pay, no participation in bonus payments⁵, 
or some form of performance management.

5. For institutions that use metric-driven performance assessments, a balance should be achieved between the 
achievement of institutions’ long and short-term objectives and, for those that use them, the impact of team- 
based assessments. 

6. In making severance payments, institutions must meet their contractual obligations and be able to explain 
the reasons for any payments made. HEIs will need to carefully consider any advice that is available from 
regulators, together with detailed CUC advice. Remuneration Committees have specific responsibilities in 
this area – in particular, ensuring that contracts agreed with senior post holders are fair, reasonable and 
justifiable and do not expose the institution to significant potential liabilities, for example by being able to 
explain notice periods of more than six months.

7. It is important for institutions that staff represent them on various bodies and boards and carry out 
academic and civic responsibilities at other organisations, e.g. non-executive director roles. There should be 
a clear and published policy on any such activity that generates additional income for the individual from the 
external body. HoIs are generally unlikely to be able retain significant sums, but any income they do retain 
needs to be disclosed and explained.

8. The approach to expenses can be a sensitive topic, and generally institutions should identify normal business 
costs separately and adopt a single published scheme that applies to all staff. Remuneration Committees 
should receive assurance that the scheme is operating effectively.

⁵  If available

Page 55



6

9. Remuneration Committees must be comprised of people who are independent of the institution’s 
management – primarily lay members of the governing body⁶. Membership must include the institution’s 
Chair, but not the HoI⁷. Remuneration Committees should be able to engage external independent expertise 
if required. 

10. Institutions must publish the multiple of the remuneration of the HoI and the median earnings of the 
institution’s whole workforce annually. This should be accompanied by sufficient explanation and context to 
enable useful comparison. They may also wish to publish other multiples, such as the ratio of HoI salary to:

a) the median academic salary;

b) the median professorial salary; and

c) the median professional staff salary.

To assist with consistency and comparison, the definition for the multiple should be based on the 
methodology used by UCEA which is available from its website. Institutions will adopt a range for their chosen 
pay multiples that they regard as acceptable. The diversity of the sector means these ranges will differ 
between institutions. Institutions that position themselves in the highest quintile will need to be prepared to 
provide additional explanations to stakeholders and their regulators as to why this is desirable. 

11. Each year, Remuneration Committees must produce an annual remuneration report to the governing body. 
That report will need to provide sufficient assurance to the governing body that the Remuneration Committee 
has effectively discharged its responsibilities. 

12. The institution must also publish a readily available remuneration annual statement. This may be within 
the annual report and accounts (as an Annex or separate section), or it may be published as a standalone 
document. Ideally, the published annual statement will be the same as the annual remuneration report to the 
governing body. However, modifications may be necessary to preserve commercial confidentiality.

⁶  They may choose to co-opt additional external members with particular expertise.

⁷ The HoI may be invited to attend meetings but must not be present for discussions affecting him or her. Where 
the Remuneration Committee is responsible for all senior staff pay, including professors, it is very important that 
the HoI is present at meetings to discuss these staff and ensure that the Committee’s decisions are well informed.

Page 56



Document is Restricted

Page 57

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Terms of Reference
	7 Length of terms of office of current members of the Board of Governors
	8 Recruitment strategy for co-opted members
	Main report recruitment strategy for co-opted members

	9 Draft Annual Remuneration Statement
	Appendix 1 - Remuneration Annual Report
	Appendix 2 - CoL pay policy statement 2018-19
	Introduction
	Background
	Staff below Senior Management
	Senior Management
	Other Payments
	Transparency
	Recruitment
	Payments on Ceasing Office
	Retirement
	Redundancy
	Settlement of potential claims
	Payment in lieu of notice
	Re-employment

	Publication of information relating to remuneration

	Appendix 3 - HE Remuneration Code June

	13 Non-public Minutes

